
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS 
WINDHAM, CT 

 
MINUTES 

 
June 7, 2007 
 
The Windham Zoning Board of Appeals held its meeting on June 7, 2007 in Town Hall.  
Chairman Ernest Eldridge called the meeting to order at 7:02 P.M.  Members present 
were Donald Potter, Ernest Eldridge, Robert Coutu, Al Beaulieu, and Charles Krich.  
Also present was Town Planner James Finger. 
 

1) Opus on the Hillside, Inc., 877 Main Street, Willimantic, Conn. – application 
for Special Exception in accordance with Section 73.1.2 to allow a non-
conforming restaurant with a customer bar to re-establish a liquor permit closer 
than 200 feet from a school, public library, or a property owned by a religious 
institution used for worship services. 

 
Chairman Eldridge corrected the separation distance on the application to read 
200 feet, and not 500 feet as stated. 
 
Michael Haddad, owner of the property, said he has owned the property since 
1995 and went into business at that time.  He said his son also had a business at 
this location approximately 3 years ago.   It was my understanding, at that time, 
that according to the zoning regulations of the City of Willimantic as long as no 
changes were made to the premises it would not be a problem to re-apply for a 
restaurant liquor license.  If this was not the case, the minute the State pulled my 
son’s license I would have reapplied immediately and continued the license.  
These premises have been used as a restaurant facility since 1950, said Haddad.   
 
Planner Finger said under the regulations once a business ceases, and if it is not 
open for longer than a year, there is a cessation of use.  Mr. Haddad said that was 
not his understanding 3 years ago when his license was taken.  At that time it was 
my understanding that I would never have to reapply for a restaurant permit, said 
Haddad. 
 
Brian Smith, who plans to open a restaurant at this location, said he will provide 
an upscale restaurant with the focus being on dining, not alcohol. 
 
Audience comments: 1) Kay Haskell, 860 Main Street, Willimantic, CT said she 
serves on the Downtown Committee for Thread City Development Corporation.  
She said the group is very interested in revitalizing downtown to a Victorian 
neighborhood theme with flowers and benches, and arts and entertainment.  She 
said she has spoken to representatives from the Christian Science Church across 
the street and they said the restaurant won’t be open when the church is open so 
having the restaurant license will not be a problem.  She said most of the 

 1



information that the Downtown Committee has on the downtown is that this 
property has always been used for food, and a restaurant, and pleasure and it goes 
back to 1890.  Those of us on the Downtown Committee and the historic people 
in town want it to stay food.   We are excited about this happening as long as it 
stays elegant and charming.  Mr. Smith added, we definitely want to preserve that 
history here and we want to get it back to what it was many years ago.  2) Rick 
Drena asked what kind of a menu would be offered.  Mr. Smith said he would like 
to model the restaurant after the Michael Jordan’s Steak House Restaurant (at the 
Mohegan Sun).  It will be very similar to the Michael Jordan Steak House, only at 
a reasonable price, said Smith.   Mr. Drena said in his opinion this would be a 
great addition to the town.  
 
Planner Finger said since this application is for a Special Exception and not a 
variance, there is no hardship test.   Given the property’s configuration, (it has an 
existing bar) this will be unique in the downtown area and he added that he totally 
supports this proposal.  
 
Since there were no other comments the public hearing was closed.  Al Beaulieu 
made a motion to grant the Special Exception in accordance with Section 73.1.2 
and Section 73.5.3 to allow a non-conforming restaurant with a customer bar to 
re-establish a liquor permit closer then 200 feet from schools, public library or 
property owned by a religious institution used for worship and Donald Potter 
seconded the motion.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 
2) Michael Haddad, 65 Bridge Street, Willimantic, CT -application for a 

Certificate of Location for a used car dealer license. 
 

Planner Finger’s staff report dated May 31, 2007 explained that this is a request 
for a renewal or re-issue of a previously issued a Certificate of Location for a used 
car dealer license that was granted last July.  At that time the board was primarily 
concerned about the storage of vehicles for repair or service, as the property is 
visible from almost all sides.  Last year Mr. Haddad said that they would not 
service any customer’s vehicles and would not store damaged or junk vehicles 
outside 
 
Chairman Eldridge said the only concern the board has is that the number of 
parking spaces is not shown on the plan.  Board member Bob Coutu said since 
this is a new license Mr. Haddad will have to submit a plot plan for the Motor 
Vehicle Dept., which the board will have to sign off on.  This plan should show 
where your driveways are, how many cars you will have and how those cars are 
going to be displayed.  Mr. Haddad said the display of cars will be right along the 
front of the property.  I probably have room for 60 cars out there, but I will never 
exceed probably 20 cars.  Chairman Eldridge said it doesn’t appear that the board 
has a problem with this, but when the plan comes back to be signed there should 
be some kind of designation of where the cars are going to be stored.  I think that 
is what the board would like, said Eldridge.  Planner Finger said the board wants 

 2



to make sure that the customers can get in and out safely.  Mr. Haddad agreed to 
submit the plot plan as requested.  I will have parking in front of the building 
which is where the cars will be displayed.  There is also parking in the rear of the 
building, but I will probably never use it except for our equipment, said Haddad.  
There will be no auto distributorship parking back there.  We don’t do collision 
work, we don’t do painting.  All we will do is sell cars, concluded Haddad.  We 
will do some service work, but not enough to leave it outside of the building, he 
added. 
 
Audience comments: 1) Kay Haskell of 860 Main Street, Willimantic, CT, 
speaking on behalf of the White River Partnership said they have no objections to 
the plan provided that Mr. Haddad develop the business in a tasteful manner. 
 
As there were no other comments, the public hearing was closed.  Bob Coutu 
made a motion to approve the application for Certificate of Location for a used 
dealer license to Michael Haddad with the stipulation that he submit a plot plan 
showing the parking spaces in the front of the building and also showing how the 
cars will be displayed.  Donald Potter seconded the motion. The motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
3) Gordon Marotte, Jr., 137 Card Street, Willimantic – application for Special  

Exception from Section 78 for a rear lot, and a variance from the maximum length 
of driveway. 
 
Planner Finger’s staff report explained that the plan shows a new access point off 
Pleasant Street to be granted in fee simple to the property in the rear, but it is not 
feasible or prudent to use this as an access way because it crosses a wetland, and 
goes up a very steep hill.  The primary access will be through 137 Card Street, 
through an existing easement used by CL&P to service their power lines.  This is 
a unique property as the original property was owned and divided up among 
relatives.  The actual house will be built in Lebanon, and will have little effect on 
the Town of Windham.  Last month the neighbor complained that he didn’t know 
anything about their use of his property, and the Board continued the hearing until 
it could get it resolved.  Now, the Marottes have had the title examined all the 
way back to 1889 when the contested property  was conveyed to the Marottes 
title, but evidently not subtracted from the description of the other piece.  This 
was obviously an error in the conveyance of the neighboring Etheridge property, 
but is clearly part of the Marotte property.  He said staff recommends approval. 
 
The secretary read into the record a letter from Mr.  & Mrs. Ronald Ethridge 
acknowledging the fact that the property in question does belong to the Marottes 
and that they no longer have any concerns about this piece of property.  
Audience comments: 1) Rick Drena, 115 Card Street, Willimantic, whose 
property abuts the Marotte property said he has no problem with the Marottes 
building a house back there and having a driveway going back and forth. 
 

 3



As there were no other comments, the public hearing was closed.  Al Beaulieu 
made a motion to grant Gordon Marotte of 137 Card Street, Willimantic, CT a 
Special Exception from Section 78 for a rear lot and a variance from the length of 
the driveway.  Donald Potter seconded the motion.  The motion carried 
unanimously. 

 
4) WindhamWine and Spirits LLC (Joe Randazzo) 1174 & 1182 Main Street – 

application for Special Exception to permit 50% reduction of front yard setbacks 
for building addition in accordance with Section 32.6.2 

 
Planner Finger’s staff reports shows that the applicant plans to acquire and 
demolish the neighboring building, and create a new parking lot.  The old parking 
lot abutting Winter Street will be developed to expand the business, but needs a 
Special Exception to build it closer to the street.  The staff has no objections to 
this plan, as it will provide a better parking layout and traffic flow out to Main 
Street and Winter Street, said Finger. 
 
Wes Wenthworth identified the property on the map.  There are two properties 
before you.  The one on the corner (1182 Main Street) is the current Wine & 
Spirit Shop (formerly Kentucky Fried Chicken).  The other property (1174 Main 
Street) the green building was formerly a Mexican restaurant.  We plan to 
combine the two lots, eliminate the green building, tear it down, and keep 1182 
Main Street, the existing Wine & Spirit Shop.  Our plan is to add onto the 
building to the west, back to the corner and  build an addition onto the liquor 
store.  We are requesting the Special Exception to allow a reduction of the front 
yard setback from 30 feet to 15 feet for both Main Street and Winter Street in 
order to build closer to the street.  The entrance will be from the front of the 
building, but there might be a side entrance as well, he said. 
 
Audience comments: 1) Kay Haskell spoke in favor of the request.  Planner 
Finger said the property to the east is very close to the property line.  Mr. 
Wentworth said they plan to add some landscaping along the property line, but 
they will maintain a 5 foot buffer.  Planner Finger said the other neighbor on 
Winter Street said she’s hoping that the noisy dumpster activity will not be 
located near her house.  Alan Giordana said they usually come once a week to 
empty the dumpster.   Al Beaulieu was sympathetic to the neighbor, but said there 
doesn’t seem to be another spot to locate the dumpster.  The dumpster for CVS is 
located in about the same area, he added.  They do need to remove their trash, and 
it hopefully it shouldn’t take more than 15 or 20 minutes to complete the task   
 
As there were no other comments, the public hearing was closed.  Al Beaulieu 
made a motion to grant Windham Wine and Spirits LLC a Special Exception to 
permit 50% reduction of the front yard setbacks to build an addition in accordance 
with Section 32.6.2.  Bob Coutu seconded the motion.  The motion carried 
unanimously. 

 

 4



5) Baltazar Gonzales, Jr. 23 Cracow Avenue, Windham – application for 
variance from Flood Hazard District Section 52.9.2 to rebuild garage at same 
elevation as previous structure. 

 
Planner Finger’s staff report explained that the old garage was demolished, and 
the new garage erected without any permits, and when the owner came in to apply 
for the permits, he found that the property is in the 100-year flood zone, so Mr. 
Finger could not approve the permit.  He said since he is in the 100-year flood 
zone, as most of his neighbors are also in the floor zone, he has to come before 
the board.  It is a formality, it is the procedure.  Mr. Finger said he feels that the 
applicant has a practical difficulty.  He doesn’t have any higher land.  This is the 
highest part of his property and it is at the next terrace.  The property does drop 
off quite a bit right behind the garage. It is 3 ½ feet.  Mr. Beaulieu said that area 
hasn’t flooded since the 1938 hurricane.  It is controlled by the Mansfield Dam.  
Planner Finger said maybe this is an area that needs reexamination of the floor 
elevations.  If there is some remedy implemented and employed upstream to 
reduce flooding it could help a lot of people and get them out of the flood plain.   
 
As there were no other comments, the public hearing was closed.  Charles Krich 
made a motion to grant a variance from Flood Hazard District Section 52.9.2 to 
rebuild the garage at the same elevation as the previous structure and Donald 
Potter seconded the motion.  The motion carried unanimously. 

 
    Routine Business 
 

The minutes of May 3, 2007 were approved.  Motion by Al Beaulieu and 
seconded by Bob Coutu.  Voting in favor of the motion were Beaulieu, Potter, 
Eldridge and Coutu.  Charles Krich abstained.  The motion carried. 

 
The meeting adjourned at 8:00 P.M. 
 
      Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
      Lillian Murray, Clerk 

 

 5


	MINUTES

